ACEC-SC Infrastructure Works Institute

Mission:

The ACEC-SC Infrastructure Works Institute will direct its resources to conduct research that informs stakeholders of the state's infrastructure status and economic impact, to invest in tomorrow's engineers, and to advance the business of engineering in South Carolina.

Goals:

- Conduct research on the state's infrastructure, its economic impact, and impact on the state.
- Conduct research on how South Carolina's engineering businesses and products fuel the economy and contribute to the betterment of SC's citizens.
- Educate the public on the importance of engineering and the work engineering companies do.
- Promote engineering, licensure, consulting engineering, and encourage engineering and other STEM fields as a profession of choice.
- Grow future generations of engineers and licensed professionals in the engineering industry.

Vision

 Support a civic and legislative environment for sustainable and increasing investment in South Carolina's infrastructure.

Infrastructure Works Institute

ACEC-SC Infrastructure Works Institute BYLAWS (a Columbia, SC Nonprofit Corporation) Amended as of June 26, 2024

ARTICLE I—NAME, OFFICE, AND REGISTERED AGENT

Section A. Name. The name of this corporation is ACEC-SC Infrastructure Works Institute.

Section B. Office and Registered Agent. The Institute shall maintain its principal office and a registered agent in Columbia, SC.

ARTICLE II—PURPOSES AND LIMITATIONS

The Institute is organized as a nonprofit corporation under the Secretary of State of South Carolina for the purposes set forth in the Institute's Articles of Incorporation (the "Articles").

ARTICLE III—BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section A. Authority and Responsibility. The affairs of the Institute shall be managed by the Board of Directors. It shall be the Board's duty to carry out the objectives and purposes of the Institute, and to this end the Board may exercise all powers of the Institute. The Board shall be subject to the restrictions and obligations set forth by law, in the Articles, and these Bylaws.

Section B. Number, Qualifications, and Composition. The Board of Directors shall have nine voting and two non-voting Directors as follows. All board members shall be members of ACEC-SC member firms and full-time residents of South Carolina.

- 1. The President of the Board of Directors (the "Institute President" or "President"), who is the person who most recently served as the Vice President of the Institute Board of Directors.
- 2. The Vice President of the Institute Board of Directors (the "Institute Vice President" or "Vice President"), who is the person who most recently served as the Secretary-Treasurer the prior year at least one year on the Board prior to taking office as Secretary-Treasurer
- 3. The Secretary-Treasurer of the Institute (the "Secretary-Treasurer"), who who will have served at least one year on the Board prior to taking office as Secretary-Treasurer.
- 4. The Immediate Past President of the ACEC-SC Board of Directors (the "ACEC-SC Past President").
- 5. The Vice President of the ACEC-SC Board of Directors (the "ACEC-SC Vice

- President").
- 6. Four Directors-at-Large. One of the four at-large directors may be an Affiliate Member of ACEC-SC.
- 7. The Immediate Past President of the Institute Board of Directors (the "Institute Past President"), who is the person that most recently served as the Institute President shall be a non-voting member of the Board.
- 8. The Executive Director of the Institute (the "Executive Director"), which can also be the Executive Director of ACEC-SC, shall be a non-voting member of the Board.

Section C. Initial Appointment, Nomination and Election. Not later than June 1st of each year, the Nominating Committee established under these Bylaws shall nominate candidates for Officers (except for the President and Vice President) and Directors of the Board as needed to fill vacancies and shall seek candidates willing to serve. No two or more Directors shall be from the same ACEC-SC Member Firm at any given time. No later than July 1st of each year, the Board will elect a new slate of Officers (except for the President and Vice President,) and Directors as required under these Bylaws.

Section D. Term. Except for the ACEC-SC Past President and ACEC-SC Vice President, the Institute President, Vice President, Secretary-Treasurer, the Institute Past President, and Directors shall hold office on the Board for a term of two years beginning July 1st. The Board may, upon the recommendation of the Nominating Committee, re-elect a Director for one or more consecutive or non-consecutive terms. This two-year term provision shall be subject to staggered terms in order to ensure that the Directors are classified into two classes, as nearly equal in number as possible, to establish a regular pattern of Director terms expiring in each year. All Directors shall serve until their successors have been duly elected and qualified.

Section E. Removal or Resignation of Directors/Vacancies. The Board of Directors may, at any time and with or without cause, remove any Director. Any individual removed as a Director pursuant to this Section E shall also be deemed removed from any Office of the Institute held at the time of removal. Any Director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President or to the Secretary/Executive Director. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified in such notice, or, if no time is specified, at the time such resignation is tendered. If a Director is no longer a member of an ACEC-SC member firm, their seat is considered vacated and the Board may fill the open seat for the duration of the term.

- **Section G.** Emergency Powers. In the event of an emergency, the Board may modify lines of succession to accommodate the incapacity of any Director, Officer, Employee, or Agent. In the event of an emergency, the Board may also relocate the principal office.
- **Section H.** Regular and Special Meetings. The Institute shall hold regular quarterly meetings each year. Special meetings may be held at such times and places as may be set by the President and Executive Director. The first regular meeting of the Board held each fiscal year shall be devoted to the installation of Directors and Officers, and for the transaction of such other business as may properly come before the Board.
- **Section I. Notice of Meetings.** Notice of the time and place of all regular and special meetings shall be given to each Director personally by telephone, fax, mail, courier, email, or other means of electronic transmission at least 48 hours before the meeting; provided, however, that at the beginning of each fiscal year, a single notice of all regularly scheduled meetings for the year may be provided without having to give notice of each such meeting individually. Neither the business to be transacted nor the purpose of any regular or special meeting of the Board need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice.
- **Section J. Waiver of Notice.** A Director may waive notice of a meeting, either before or after the meeting. Waiver can be made in the form of a written or electronic record signed by the Director, which shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or with the corporate records. The attendance of a Director at any meeting shall also constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a Director promptly upon arrival objects to the holding of the meeting or to the business to be transacted at the meeting, and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting.
- **Section K. Quorum; Action by Board.** A simple majority of the voting Directors in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board. The act of a simple majority of the voting Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be an act of the Board, except as otherwise provided by law, the Articles, or these Bylaws. Each Director, with the exception of the Executive Director and the Institute Past President, shall have one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the Board. No Director voting by proxy shall be permitted.
- **Section L. Videoconferencing and Teleconferencing.** Any person participating in a meeting of the Board may participate by means of a conference call or by any means of communication by which all persons participating in the meeting may simultaneously hear one another, and such participation shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

Section M. Action without Meeting. Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board may be taken without a meeting if each Director of the Board signs a consent describing the action to be taken and delivers it to the Institute. Action taken under this Section shall be an act of the Board when consents signed by all of the members of the Board are delivered to the Institute unless the consent(s) otherwise specify the time at which the action taken is to be effective. Such consent or consents may be executed and delivered to the Institute by electronic means, including email, and shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board.

Section N. Minutes and Records of Action. Minutes of each meeting of the Board and records of each action taken without a meeting by the Board shall be recorded by the Secretary or the Secretary's designee. Minutes of each meeting shall be submitted to the Board for approval at the subsequent meeting of the Board. Minutes and records of action shall be maintained permanently among the records of the Institute as required by the bylaws.

Section O. Procedure. All meetings of the Board shall be conducted in accordance with such rules of order as may be established by the President. In establishing the rules, the President shall be guided by applicable provisions of the latest edition of *Robert's Rules of Order*, to the extent that such provisions are not inconsistent with these Bylaws, the Articles, or rules adopted by the Board.

ARTICLE IV—BOARD OFFICERS

Section A. Board Officers. The Board Officers of the Institute shall be a President, Vice President, Secretary-Treasurer, and Past President, each to have such duties and authority as may be specified in these Bylaws or as shall be prescribed by the Board. Once elected as Secretary-Treasurer, the officer will rotate to the next office the next term: Secretary-Treasurer will become Vice President, Vice President will become President, and President will become Past President.

Section B. Election. Election of the Secretary-Treasurer shall take place as specified under Article III, Section C, of these Bylaws. The individual then serving as Secretary-Treasurer shall automatically become the Vice President upon the expiration of the term of office of the Vice President or if the office of the Vice President is vacant for any reason. The individual then serving as Vice President shall automatically become the President upon the expiration of the term of office of the President or if the office of the President is vacant for any reason. The individual then serving as President shall automatically become the Past President upon the expiration of his or her term of office as President unless such individual declines to serve as Past President or is removed from office as President, and

shall serve as Past President until the next President ascends to the position of Past President or declines to serve as Past President, or until his or her earlier death, resignation, or removal.

Section C. Removal or Resignation of Board Officers. Any Board Officer may be removed from office at any time, with or without cause, by the Board as established under Article III, Section E, of these Bylaws. Any Board Officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified in such notice, or, if no time is specified, at the time such resignation is tendered.

Section D. Vacancies. A vacancy in any Board Officer position except for the President or Past President may be filled at any time by the Board, or by the ACEC-SC President in the case of the Executive Director, for the unexpired portion of the term. A vacancy in the office of President shall be automatically filled by the Vice President for the unexpired portion of the term and the office of Vice President who ascended to the position of President may be filled. A vacancy in the office of Past President shall be automatically filled when the then-current President ascends to the position of Past President.

Section E. President. The President is the chief appointed officer of the Institute and shall perform all general duties incumbent upon the office of President, as well as such other duties as may from time to time be delegated to him or her by the Board. He or she shall be the presiding officer at all meetings of the Board and the Executive Committee (defined below in Article VI).

Section F. Vice President. The Vice President shall perform such duties as designated by the President and/or the Board, and shall fulfill the duties of President, including presiding at meetings of the Board and the Executive Committee, in the President's absence or disability.

Section G. Secretary-Treasurer. The Secretary-Treasurer shall perform all general duties incumbent upon the office of Secretary and Treasurer; shall, in person or through his or her designee, record the minutes of all meetings of the Board; maintain such minutes; see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law; and be the custodian of the permanent corporate records. In addition, the Secretary shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the President and/or the Board. The Secretary-Treasurer shall also have oversight of all funds, securities, annual audit, and financial records of the Institute. They shall provide financial statements to the Board of Directors at all regular meetings of the Board and at such other times as the Board may require. They shall execute all instruments requiring the signature of the Treasurer. The Treasurer shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the President and/or the Board.

Section I. Past President. The Past President shall assist the President with the transition of leadership by providing advice when requested by the President, serve as a Board liaison to support the Institute's activities and special projects as designated by the President and/or the Board, and perform such other duties as designated by the President and/or the Board.

ARTICLE V—EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP AND ADMINISTRATION

Section A. Staff Officers. The Staff Officers of the Institute shall be appointed by the ACEC-SC President and shall include an Executive Director as may be provided for under these Bylaws. The Executive Director shall have such duties and authority as may be specified in these Bylaws or as prescribed by the Board. The Staff Officers shall be subject to removal at any time, with cause, by the ACEC-SC President in consultation with the ACEC-SC Board. Any Staff Officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board or the ACEC-SC President. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified in such notice, or, if no time is specified, at the time such resignation is tendered. A vacancy in any Staff Officer position may be filled at any time by the ACEC-SC President.

Section B. Executive Director. The Executive Director is a member of the ACEC-SC Staff and shall be the Executive Director of the Institute, with responsibility for its day-to-day operations and charge of all its affairs, subject to the direction and oversight of the Board. The Executive Director shall supervise and provide direction to any employees of, or paid contractors to, the Institute, if any, on a regular basis. The Executive Director shall execute on behalf of the Institute all contracts, issue checks to be signed by the treasurer, and other instruments, except in those instances in which the execution thereof shall be delegated by the Board to some other Officer or Agent of the Institute. The Executive Director is required to give a full accounting to the President, Treasurer, and Board of the financial condition of the Institute on a periodic basis. The Executive Director in general shall perform all duties incumbent upon the office of Executive Director and such other duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the President or the Board.

ARTICLE VI—BOARD AND ADVISORY COMMITTEES

Section A. Board Committees. The Board may, by resolution, create or terminate one or more Committees. Each Board Committee will consist of two or more Directors, to serve at the discretion of the Board. Appointment of Directors to a Board Committee shall be made by nomination of the President. Such committees, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board and subject to the limitations, shall have and exercise the authority of the Board in the management of the Institute. The designation of and the delegation of authority

to a Board Committee shall not operate to relieve the Board, or any individual Director, of any responsibility imposed upon them by law.

- 1. Executive Committee. The Executive Committee is a Board Committee hereby established for the purpose of providing oversight for the Institute in between meetings of the Board. The Executive Committee shall exercise the full powers of the Board and shall report its major actions since the last Board meeting at the subsequent Board meetings. The Executive Committee shall consist of the following Officers and Directors of the Institute:
 - a. The Institute President;
 - b. The Institute Vice President;
 - c. The Institute Secretary-Treasurer;
 - d. The ACEC-SC Past President;
 - e. Executive Director, who shall be a non-voting member of the Executive Committee.
 - f. The Institute Past President, who shall be a non-voting member of the Executive Committee.
- 2. Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee is a Board Committee hereby established for the purpose of nominating Directors each year to serve on the Board. Each member of the Nominating Committee shall serve for one year and until the necessary number of new Directors has been elected, or until their earlier death, resignation, or removal. The Nominating Committee will consist of the ACEC-SC Past President, The ACEC-SC Institute Past President, and three at large members, two chosen by the ACEC-SC Past President and one chosen by the Institute President.
- **Section C.** Committee Meetings and Action. Meetings of Board Committees shall conform to the same standards for notice, quorum, voting, manner and method of acting, and other procedures applicable to meetings of the Board as are set forth in Article III of these Bylaws, except as otherwise provided under these Bylaws or by resolution of the Board. The Institute President and Executive Director can be members of all Board Committees, except that the Executive Director shall have no vote and shall not attend deliberations of the Nominating Committee.

Section D. Minutes and Records of Action. Minutes of all meetings of the Board and Committees shall be recorded and maintained with the records of the Institute.

Section E. Removal and Resignation; Vacancies. Each member of a Board Committee shall continue as such until his or her successor is appointed, unless the Committee shall be sooner terminated, or unless such member shall cease to qualify or shall be removed or shall resign as a member of the Committee. Any Committee President or member may be removed from such position at any time by the Board whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Institute would be served thereby. Any committee member may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified in such notice, or, if no time is specified, at the time such resignation is tendered. Vacancies in the membership of any Committee may be filled at any time by appointments made in the same manner as provided under these Bylaws.

Section F. Limitation on Delegated Authority. Except as otherwise provided under these Bylaws, actions taken by Board or Advisory Committees shall be subject to Article X (Declaration of Policy) of these Bylaws, relating to limitations of responsibility and authority and restricting commitments on behalf of the Institute and in matters of policy.

ARTICLE VII—COMPENSATION AND INUREMENT

Section A. Compensation of Directors. The Institute shall not pay any compensation to Directors for services rendered to the Institute as such, except that Directors may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred in the performance of their duties to the Institute. Nothing herein shall be construed to preclude any Director from serving the Institute in a capacity other than that of Director and receiving reasonable compensation for such service.

Section B. Inurement. No part of the net earnings of the Institute shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to, its Officers, Directors, Committee Members, Employees, or other private persons, except that the Institute shall, subject to these Bylaws, be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation and/or to reimburse reasonable expenses for services rendered, and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the Institute's purposes.

ARTICLE VIII—LIMITATION OF LIABILITY, INDEMNIFICATION, AND INSURANCE

Section A. Limitation of Liability. The personal liability of currently acting and former Officers and Directors is hereby eliminated to the fullest extent permitted

by law. Specifically, and without limitation, a Director or Officer of the Institute shall not be liable to the Institute for money damages for any action taken, or failure to take action, as a Director or Officer, except for liability for:

- 1. the amount of financial benefit received by the Director or Officer to which the Director or Officer was not entitled;
- 2. an intentional infliction of harm;
- an unlawful distribution authorized by the Officer or Director in a manner outside the standards of conduct mandated for the Officer or Director
- 4. an intentional violation of criminal law.

Section B. Indemnification. The Institute shall indemnify each of its currently acting and former Directors and Officers in accordance with and to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Section C. Insurance. The Institute shall purchase liability insurance for the indemnity specified above to the fullest extent as determined by the Board. Such liability insurance shall provide a minimum limit of coverage.

ARTICLE IX—FINANCES AND RECORDS

Section A. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Institute shall commence on the first day of July of each year.

Section B. Corporate Contracts and Instruments. The Board may authorize any Officer or Officers, or Agent or Agents of the Institute, in addition to the Officers so authorized under these Bylaws, to enter into any contract or execute or deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Institute. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

Section C. Checks and Drafts. All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidence of indebtedness issued in the name of the Institute shall be signed by such Officer or Officers, or Agent or Agents of the Institute, and in such manner as shall be determined by these Bylaws or resolution of the Board. In the absence of such determination by the Board, such instruments shall each be signed by an Officer or other Director of the Institute.

Section D. Deposits. All funds of the Institute shall be deposited to the credit of the Institute in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board may select.

Section E. Books and Records. The Institute shall keep correct and complete books and records of account and shall also keep at its principal office as permanent corporate records:

- 1. minutes of all meetings of the Board;
- 2. records of all actions taken without a meeting by the Board;
- 3. records of all actions taken by a Board Committee on behalf of the Institute;
- 4. the Institute's Articles of Incorporation;
- the Institute's Bylaws;
- 6. a list of the names and business addresses of the Institute's current Directors and Officers

Section F. Representation of Shares of Other Corporations. The Executive Director or any other Officer or Officers authorized by the Board are each authorized to vote, represent, and exercise on behalf of the Institute all rights incident to any shares of or other interests in any other corporation or corporations held by the Institute. This authority may be exercised in person or by proxy or power of attorney.

Section G. Other Operational Policies. The Board may adopt, or delegate authority to any Officer or Officers to adopt policies and guidelines regarding matters affecting the operation of the Institute. The Board or such Officer or Officers can amend, repeal, or otherwise modify such policies and guidelines at its sole discretion.

ARTICLE X—DECLARATION OF POLICY

Except as otherwise provided under these Bylaws, responsibility, and authority for any declaration of Institute policy, and/or endorsement, and/or rejection of any matter on any subject of policy, is reserved to the judgment and discretion of the Board. Notwithstanding any other provisions under these Bylaws, however, Board Committees and Advisory Committees of the Institute are not authorized, directly or indirectly, to authorize distributions; fill vacancies on the Board or any Board Committee; adopt, amend, or repeal the Bylaws; or commit the Institute in any way or in any manner, financially or otherwise, without prior approval by the Board, except as specified in the approved budget or in specific resolutions of the Board. The Board, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, shall have control of the affairs of the Institute, including all matters relating to the acquisition,

holding, management, control, investment, and disposition of the funds and other property of the Institute. Actions taken by Board and Staff Officers, Employees, or Agents of the Institute shall in all instances be subject to this Article.

ARTICLE XI – CONSTRUCTION

Section A. Legal Authority Governing Construction of Bylaws. Unless the context otherwise requires, the general provisions, rules of construction, and definitions as amended from time to time shall govern the construction of these Bylaws. If any term used in these Bylaws and not otherwise defined in these Bylaws is defined for purposes shall apply for purposes of these Bylaws.

Section B. Interpretation and Conflict of Provisions. These Bylaws are in all respects subject to the provisions of the Institute's Articles of Incorporation and shall be interpreted accordingly. If any provision of these Bylaws is or becomes inconsistent with any provision of the Articles of Incorporation, any other applicable law, the provision of these Bylaws shall not be given any effect to the extent of such inconsistency but shall otherwise be given full force and effect.

ARTICLE XII—AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed and new Bylaws may be adopted, by a simple majority of the Board voting at any regular or special meeting at which a quorum is present. Any adoption, amendment, or repeal of these Bylaws shall require approval by ACEC-SC, acting through its Executive Committee.

* * * * *